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From: Luther Lowe [mailto:luther@yelp.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, September 24, 2014 1:44 PM 
To: Jay Riestenberg 
Subject: Re: Yelp's membership in ALEC 

  

Here's the statement:  

  

  

Yelp allowed its membership in ALEC to expire months ago and we did not join Google in 
Dallas at the meeting in July. When we joined in 2013 we were very specific and 
transparent about our goals: to encourage the adoption of model anti-SLAPP legislation. 
Anti-SLAPP laws make it tough to bring meritless lawsuits against individuals that have 
shared their honest opinions online. It should be no surprise that at Yelp, we're highly 
supportive of any effort to promote and protect free speech online; we advocate for free 
speech on both sides of the aisle. We found ALEC provided a unique forum to bring a good 
idea to the table. Our approach was not without irony and it invited a backlash, yet to 
ALEC's credit, our model bill passed unanimously: the Public Participation Protection Act -- 
a model bill we advanced to protect consumers from bullying -- is live on ALEC.org today, 
and we hope lawmakers in states across the country are able to draw inspiration from it for 
years to come. Given that our very specific goal was achieved, we allowed our membership 
to expire. 

  
Amidst the backlash to our joining, we had a direct conversation with the ALEC leadership 
and encouraged more transparency within the organization. Specifically, we suggested 
ALEC invite C-SPAN to fully cover their meetings. Such sunlight on the organization would 
exert important pressure on ALEC to steer clear of controversial issues it has taken up in 
the past, while revealing to the broader public that providing a forum for policy makers and 
industry leaders to collaborate can result in consumer benefit (as was our experience).  

 
 

Luther Lowe 
Director of Public Policy 
Yelp 
+1-415.848.8277 (office) 
+1-202.460.8098 (mobile) 

@lutherlowe 
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From: Suzanne Philion [mailto:sphilion@yahoo-inc.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, September 23, 2014 5:00 PM 
To: Jay Riestenberg 
Cc: Elisa Shyu 
Subject: Re: Yahoo's membership in the American Legislative Exchange Council (ALEC) 
  
  

Hi Jay -- thanks for your patience. Not sure if you've published yet? Here's our 
statement, attributable to a Yahoo spokesperson: 
  
At Yahoo, we engage in the political process in a variety of ways to promote and to 
protect the long-term interests of our users and our company. One of the ways we do 
so is is through memberships in organizations that help advance our business 
objectives. We may not agree with all the positions of an organization, its leaders or 
its supporters. At this time, we are members of ALEC and limit our engagement to 
their Communications and Technology Task Force. We periodically review the 
organizations in which we participate to ensure that they continue to promote and 
protect the long term interests of our users and our company.  More information on 
our corporate governance policies is available here.  
  
 

mailto:sphilion@yahoo-inc.com
https://investor.yahoo.net/documentdisplay.cfm?DocumentID=12884
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From: "Smith, Abby" <abismith@ebay.com> 

Date: December 5, 2014 at 5:26:10 PM EST 

To: "JRiestenberg@commoncause.org" <JRiestenberg@commoncause.org> 

Subject: FW: eBay's membership in the American Legislative Exchange Council (ALEC) 

Hi Jay, 

In follow up to your question to John Donahoe, below is eBay's response. 

"As a global company, with broad business and public policy interests worldwide, we engage with a 

diverse range of trade associations and public policy advocacy groups.  We only work with ALEC on one 

area and that is to support small businesses and help to protect them from threats including unfair tax 

legislation and state and local legislative issues. dŚŝƐ�ŚĞůƉƐ�ĞŶĂďůĞ�ŽƵƌ�ƐĞůůĞƌƐ͛�ǀŽŝĐĞƐ�ƚŽ�ďĞ�ŚĞĂƌĚ�ũƵƐƚ�ĂƐ�
loudly as those with vast resources and assets that no small business can match on their own.  While we 

do not agree with ALEC on other issues, including climate change, we believe we can still work 

collaboratively on this specific area. We review our membership on an annual basis and are doing so 

currently for 2015. 

eBay believes strongly in environmental leadership and stewardship.  We are proud of our leadership on 

climate change, and we intend to continue being a strong voice for both climate change and small 

business. More details can be found at http://www.ebayinc.com/social-innovation/enabling-greener-

commerce. " 

  

Best, 

Abby 

Abby Smith 

Senior Director, Corporate Communications 

abismith@eBay.com 

cell: 408-839-6028 

 

mailto:abismith@ebay.com
mailto:JRiestenberg@commoncause.org
mailto:JRiestenberg@commoncause.org
http://www.ebayinc.com/social-innovation/enabling-greener-commerce
http://www.ebayinc.com/social-innovation/enabling-greener-commerce
mailto:abismith@eBay.com
tel:408-839-6028
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From: Kerley, Beth [mailto:Elizabeth.Kerley@anheuser-busch.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, October 14, 2014 4:07 PM 
To: Jay Riestenberg 
Subject: RE: Anheuser-Busch's membership in the American Legislative Exchange Council (ALEC) 
 
Jay ʹ Good afternoon. Please see the following response.  
 
 

For attribution to an Anheuser-Busch spokesperson: 
 
Anheuser-Busch believes participation is key to the democratic process, a view consistent with Common 
�ĂƵƐĞΖƐ�ƐƚĂƚĞĚ�ŽďũĞĐƚŝǀĞ͗�͞dŚŝƐ�ŝƐ�ŽƵƌ�ĚĞŵŽĐƌĂĐǇ͕�ŝƚΖƐ�ƵƉ�ƚŽ�Ăůů�ŽĨ�ƵƐ�ƚŽ�ŵĂŬĞ�ŝƚ�ǁŽƌŬ͘͟�/ƚ͛Ɛ�ǁŚǇ�ǁĞ�ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ�
groups and organizations across the political spectrum. This involvement ensures that the voices of our 
employees and the consumers we serve are heard in important public policy debates that affect our 
business. 

 

Thanks, 
 
Beth Kerley  
Direct 314.765.2329 | Mobile 214.876.9907 
 
 
 

mailto:Elizabeth.Kerley@anheuser-busch.com
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From: Dean, Scott D [mailto:Scott.Dean@bp.com]  
Sent: Monday, October 13, 2014 4:59 PM 
To: Jay Riestenberg 
Subject: FW: BP's membership in ALEC 
 
Yes, ALEC is one of several organizations that BP participates in to help educate policy-makers about 
energy and natural resource issues that affect our business. 
 
From: Jay Riestenberg [mailto:JRiestenberg@commoncause.org]  
Sent: Monday, October 13, 2014 1:24 PM 
To: USPRESS 
Subject: BP's membership in ALEC 
 
Hello, 
 
/͛ŵ�ƵƉĚĂƚŝŶŐ�ƉƵďůŝĐ�ƌĞĐŽƌĚƐ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŵƉĂŶŝĞƐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ĂƌĞ�ŵĞŵďĞƌƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĨƵŶĚĞƌƐ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ��ŵĞƌŝĐĂŶ�>ĞŐŝƐůĂƚŝǀĞ�
Exchange Council (ALEC). BP America is currently listed as member of ALEC. 
 
Could you please confirm that BP is currently a member and/or funder of ALEC? 
 
Thank you.  
 
_____________________________________ 
JAY RIESTENBERG | Research Analyst 
Common Cause - Holding Power Accountable 
202-736-5741 (office) 
513-607-9343 (cell) 
jriestenberg@commoncause.org 
@JayRiestenberg 
 

mailto:Scott.Dean@bp.com
mailto:JRiestenberg@commoncause.org
mailto:jriestenberg@commoncause.org
https://twitter.com/jayriestenberg
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From: Smith, Todd C. (CCI-Atlanta) [mailto:Todd.Smith@cox.com]  

Sent: Tuesday, September 30, 2014 4:08 PM 

To: Jay Riestenberg 

Subject: FW: Cox's ALEC Membership 

  

Jay: 
  
I can confirm that Cox Communications is a member of the American Legislative Exchange 
Council (ALEC), the National Conference of State Legislatures Foundation and other 
intergovernmental public policy organizations.  We participate in ALEC through the 
Communications and Technology Task Force.  This task force strictly works on issues that have 
a direct impact on our company and our industry.  We have not and will not participate in 
discussions or debates within ALEC about other issues. 
  

  

Todd C. Smith  
Director, Media Relations  
Cox Communications  
office: 404-269-3124  
mobile: 678-362-8346  
email: tsmith@cox.com  
Twitter  Facebook  LinkedIn 

  

From: Jay Riestenberg [mailto:JRiestenberg@commoncause.org]  

Sent: Tuesday, September 30, 2014 11:01 AM 

To: Holliday, Mallard (CCI-Atlanta) 

Cc: Smith, Todd C. (CCI-Atlanta) 

Subject: RE: Cox's ALEC Membership 

  

Just following up on this request. Thank you. 

  

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

  

From: Jay Riestenberg  

Sent: Wednesday, September 24, 2014 2:22 PM 

To: 'Mallard.Holliday@cox.com' 

Cc: 'tsmith@cox.com' 

Subject: Cox's ALEC Membership 

  

I'm writing a press release on the numerous companies announcing this week that they are 

dropping or have dropped their membership in the American Legislative Exchange Council 

(ALEC). Given Google, Facebook, Yelp, and Microsoft's recent departure from ALEC, has Cox 

Communications reconsidered its position or membership in the organization? 

mailto:Todd.Smith@cox.com
mailto:tsmith@cox.com
http://www.twitter.com/toddpr
http://www.budurl.com/coxcorpfb
http://www.linkedin.com/pub/0/b95/298
mailto:JRiestenberg@commoncause.org
mailto:jriestenberg@commoncause.org
https://twitter.com/jayriestenberg
mailto:Mallard.Holliday@cox.com
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
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From: Mark Griffin <mgriffin@overstock.com> 
To: Adrianne Psarras <apsarras@overstock.com>, Nick Surgey <nick@prwatch.org>, PR 
<pr@overstock.com> 
Cc: Board ʹ Mark Griffin <boardofdirectors@overstock.com>, Mark Harden <mharden@overstock.com> 
Subject: RE: Question from reporter about Overstock.com funding of ALEC 
Date: September 26, 2014 at 2:52:21 PM CDT 
 
Suggested response: 
  
Nick, your assertion is incorrect:  Overstock.com had a previous one-year association with ALEC, but no 
more. 
  
Our association concerned a state sales tax issue, and we joined to allow better contact with state 
legislatures on our issue.  However, at the end of that one-year association, we determined not to 
renew membership for business reasons, unrelated to any position ALEC had taken.  It would be 
misleading to say otherwise. I believe our membership terminated sometime in 2013. 
  
 
 
 
From: Judd Bagley <jbagley@overstock.com> 
To: Nick Surgey <nick@prwatch.org> 
Cc: Mark Griffin <mgriffin@overstock.com>, PR <pr@overstock.com>, Board ʹ Mark Griffin 
<boardofdirectors@overstock.com>, Mark Harden <mharden@overstock.com> 
Subject: RE: Question from reporter about Overstock.com funding of ALEC 
Date: December 19, 2014 at 12:39:30 PM CST 
 
I've just learned that, because the internet sales tax issue is back under consideration, it's necessary for 
us to communicate with policy makers involved in deliberations over future legislative actions on the 
subject. 
 
That being the case, we've recently renewed our membership with ALEC. 
 

mailto:mgriffin@overstock.com
mailto:apsarras@overstock.com
mailto:nick@prwatch.org
mailto:pr@overstock.com
mailto:boardofdirectors@overstock.com
mailto:mharden@overstock.com
mailto:jbagley@overstock.com
mailto:nick@prwatch.org
mailto:mgriffin@overstock.com
mailto:pr@overstock.com
mailto:boardofdirectors@overstock.com
mailto:mharden@overstock.com
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STATE OF MINNESOTA 
CAMPAIGN FINANCE AND PUBLIC DISCLOSURE BOARD 

 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order 

In the Matter of the Complaint of Common Cause Minnesota Regarding the 
American Legislative Exchange Council 

 
I.  The complaint 

 
On May 15, 2012, the Campaign Finance and Public Disclosure Board received a complaint 
from Common Cause Minnesota (Complainant) alleging violations by the American Legislative 
Exchange Council (ALEC) and an individual named Amy Kjose of certain of Minnesota's 
statutes related to lobbying.   
 
The complaint alleges that as the director of an ALEC task force in 2011, Ms. Kjose was 
required to register as a lobbyist in Minnesota, but failed to do so or to file the required reports.  
The complaint further alleges that in 2011 ALEC was a "principal" as defined in Minnesota 
Statutes section 10A.01, subdivision 33, either by virtue of employing Ms. Kjose as a lobbyist, or 
by virtue of spending more than $50,000 in a year on activities to influence Minnesota legislative 
action.  The complaint alleges that ALEC failed to provide the annual report of expenditures 
required of every principal. 
 
The Board notes that the complaint includes a significant amount of legal citation and argument 
with regard to ALEC's nonprofit tax status and its lobbying reporting obligation under federal 
law.  Additionally, although the complaint specifically notes certain issue alerts sent to 
Minnesota legislators and identifies expenses reported by three Minnesota legislators to attend 
ALEC events, most of the allegations of the complaint are of a more general nature applicable 
to ALEC's activities to influence legislation in the various 50 states rather than only to ALEC's 
Minnesota activities.  Apparently the Minnesota complaint is a derivation of a complaint on the 
same subject that Common Cause filed with the Internal Revenue Service.  The Board has not 
considered any of the federal questions raised by the complaint. 
 
During the course of the investigation the Board obtained and considered ALEC documents 
beyond those submitted by Complainant.  These documents include internal ALEC documents 
that were initially disclosed in connection with a news report in The Guardian newspaper as well 
as additional documents from ALEC's public website and documents from other sources that 
are deemed reliable. 
 

II.  The response 
 
On May 22, 2012, Board staff notified ALEC of the complaint and offered ALEC an opportunity 
to provide a general response.   
 
Because of other Board matters more closely related to the 2012 election, in which two 
constitutional amendment questions were on the ballot, the Board laid the matter over at its 
June and July meetings.  At its August meeting the Board directed the Executive Director to use 
staff resources on matters related to the upcoming election and to defer further work on the 
ALEC matter until resources were available.  ALEC was notified of this approach in a letter 
dated August 8, 2012, and expressed no objection. 
 

 



On March 13, 2013, the Board notified ALEC by letter that staff resources were now available to 
undertake investigation of the Common Cause complaint.  The letter asked ALEC to provide 
comprehensive information that would allow the Board to make a determination of the legal 
status of ALEC under Minnesota's lobbying statutes.  On April 12, 2013, ALEC responded 
through its legal counsel, Mike Wittenwyler.  Mr. Wittenwyler provided general information about 
ALEC and its structure and operations, but did not address the Board's specific requests for 
information. 
 
Board staff compared the information provided in ALEC's April 12 letter to the Board's March 13 
request and concluded that the letter was almost entirely nonresponsive.  Staff sent this 
analysis to ALEC on July 11, 2013, and asked ALEC to respond to the Board's specific 
requests.  In a letter dated July 26, 2013, Mr. Wittenwyler provided an additional response that 
consisted of an explanation of why ALEC was not required to respond to the Board's requests.   
 
The matter was subsequently laid over at successive Board meetings as staff researched the 
issues raised by the complaint and ALEC’s response and sought additional documentary 
evidence from the internet and other sources.  At its November 2013 meeting the Board 
reviewed in detail the status of the investigation and the difficulties posed by the continued 
refusal of ALEC to provide anything but the most basic information about its operations.  At that 
time, the Executive Director explained that staff planned to make a request for information from 
ALEC that would be more limited than previous requests and would not require ALEC to identify 
any of its members; an approach that would address one of ALEC's key objections.   
 
On February 13, 2014, staff sent ALEC the narrower request for information.  On March 10, 
2014, ALEC responded and once again declined to provide any information beyond that which 
was included in its initial response. 
 
In general, the substance of ALEC's response is that it is an educational organization that does 
not engage in lobbying as that term is defined by the Internal Revenue Code.  ALEC also claims 
that it cannot be required to disclose either its members or its communications with its members 
under constitutional law principles. 
 
ALEC also argues that it is not a principal under Minnesota law because it employs no lobbyists 
and because it has never spent more than $50,000 in a year to influence Minnesota officials; 
which is the financial trigger that makes an association a principal even if it does not employ 
lobbyists. 
 

III.  Further background 
 
At its meeting of April 1, 2014, the Board reviewed ALEC's reasons for declining to provide 
information and its contention that it did not fall under Minnesota's lobbying disclosure laws.  
The Board also reviewed the options available to compel ALEC to provide additional 
information.  After discussion, the Board directed the Executive Director to develop a detailed 
legal and factual analysis that would allow the Board to evaluate whether the matter could be 
decided based on information provided by Complainant and assembled by staff from public 
sources. 
 
The Board discussed staff's detailed analysis at its meeting of July 8, 2014.  Mr. Wittenwyler 
also appeared at the meeting to urge the Board to dismiss the complaint.  At its meeting of 
August 13, the Board further discussed the status of the matter, voted to set the scope of the 
investigation to include the years 2011 through 2014, and again laid the matter over. 
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At its meeting of September 2, 2014, the Board directed the Executive Director to continue the 
investigation by taking sworn testimony from individuals named as the public sector state co-
chairs and the private sector state chair of ALEC.  Sworn testimony was taken in November 
2014  from Senator Mary Kiffmeyer and Representative Pat Garafalo, the ALEC public sector 
co-chairs, and from John Gibbs, the ALEC private sector state chair. 
 
The Board discussed this matter at its November 2014 and January 2015 meetings.  The Board 
considered draft findings, conclusions, and order at its February 2015 meeting. 
  

IV.  Analysis 
 

ALEC argues that neither it nor its employees engage in lobbying under the Internal Revenue 
Code definition.  That definition is, of course, not relevant in Minnesota.  The Board's analysis 
considers whether Amy Kjose is a lobbyist under Minnesota Statutes section 10A.01, 
subdivision 21, and whether ALEC is a principal under section 10A.01, subdivision 33. 

 
Is Amy Kjose a Minnesota lobbyist? 
The complaint alleges that Amy Kjose is a lobbyist because she is paid by ALEC for activities 
that constitute lobbying.   In Minnesota, a lobbyist is defined as follows: 
 

[A]n individual engaged for pay or other consideration of more than $3,000 from all 
sources in any year for the purpose of attempting to influence legislative or administrative 
action, or the official action of a metropolitan governmental unit, by communicating or 
urging others to communicate with public or local officials, or  
 
who spends more than $250, not including the individual's own traveling expenses and 
membership dues, in any year for the purpose of attempting to influence legislative 
or administrative action, or the official action of a metropolitan governmental unit, by 
communicating or urging others to communicate with public or local officials. 

 
Minn. Stat. § 10A.01, subd. 21. 

 
The complaint alleges, and ALEC does not dispute, that Ms. Kjose was the director of ALEC's 
Civil Justice Task Force during the time relevant to this matter.  The complaint further alleges 
that Ms. Kjose's responsibilities require drafting and lobbying on model legislation and that Ms. 
Kjose has spent more than $250 in a calendar year on lobbying.  The complaint also alleges 
that the cost of the email system used to send issue alerts and the cost of ALEC conferences 
should be included when determining if Ms. Kjose spent more than $250 on lobbying. 
 
However, the Board interprets the $250 spending trigger to apply only to individuals spending 
their own money, not to persons authorized by an association to spend the association's 
money.1  The complaint does not allege that Ms. Kjose spent any of her own money to 
communicate with officials and the materials reviewed for this investigation do not suggest that 
she did so.  Thus, Ms. Kjose is a lobbyist only if she was paid more than $3,000 in a calendar 
year to communicate with Minnesota legislators or to urge others to do so. 

1 The position that the $250 threshold applies to spending personal funds is of longstanding application.  The 
interpretation is in part based on the statutory language in the same provision that excludes costs of the subject 
individual's own travel expenses.  This principle was recently restated in the Matter of the Complaint Regarding the 
Coalition for Sensible Siting and others, where the Board said that "An individual who spends more than $250 of 
their personal funds in a calendar year on lobbying" is required to register as a lobbyist. (Emphasis added.) 
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The Board notes that the complaint does not allege that Ms. Kjose communicated with others to 
urge them to communicate with Minnesota legislators to influence legislative action and the 
Board has found no evidence that she did so.  Thus, if a determination is to be made that Ms. 
Kjose is a lobbyist, it must be based on actions taken by her that constitute communication with 
Minnesota legislators to influence legislative action. 
  
The evidence submitted by the Complainant includes four issue alerts that Ms. Kjose sent to 
certain Minnesota legislators in 2011.2  The complaint also alleges that as a task force director, 
Ms. Kjose drafted model legislation and lobbied to get it passed. 
 
In its response to the complaint, ALEC indicates that the value of staff time to prepare and send 
each issue alert is approximately $30.  The issue alerts provided by Complainant and those 
provided by ALEC indicate that issue alerts were sent by various ALEC staff members.  The 
response confirms that four of the alerts sent in 2011 were from Ms. Kjose.  Even assuming that 
the full cost of staff time for drafting the alert is included in the compensation paid to the staff 
member, and assuming a reasonable amount of time to draft the alert and a reasonable salary 
for the staff member, Ms. Kjose would not become a lobbyist based on the drafting and sending 
of issue alerts alone. 
 
In its purest sense, communicating with an official takes the form of a direct interaction.  
However, such direct communication is not required and actions beyond the actual exchange of 
words between the individual and the official are included in the communication.  If a person is 
paid to write a letter to officials to influence official action, the time spent writing the letter is a 
part of the communication.3  Similarly, the Board has concluded that the creation of a website 
urging others to communicate with officials for the purpose of influencing a specific Minnesota 
administrative action is a communication that is included in the amount spent that can make an 
individual a lobbyist.4   
 
Complainant is apparently arguing that all of the time Ms. Kjose spends drafting and editing 
model bills, researching and writing supporting papers and talking points, and preparing other 
materials5 that might be used later in support of a  direct communication with a Minnesota 
legislator should be counted as time spent communicating with Minnesota officials.  However, 
these activities, undertaken with no particular Minnesota purpose, are significantly broader in 
scope than the activities the Board has previously included when deciding if an individual is a 
lobbyist.  
 
The problem with this approach is that although it can be assumed that all of the work of an 
ALEC task force director is undertaken in furtherance of ALEC's overall mission,  ALEC's overall 
mission is not to influence legislative action in Minnesota.  It is to influence public attitudes and 
legislative action in the nation as a whole.  With the exception of the Minnesota issue alerts, 

2 ALEC's response also shows that Ms. Kjose sent one issue alert to Minnesota legislators in 2009 and no alerts in 
2010.  Although these years are outside the scope of the investigation, they demonstrate that Ms. Kjose's direct 
communication with Minnesota legislators over the years has been limited. 
3 In the Matter of a Complaint Regarding the Minnesota Licensed Beverage Association and others.  
http://www.cfboard.state.mn.us/bdinfo/investigation/06_03_2014_Findings_Griffith_Ball_MLBA.pdf.  Last visited 
January 27, 2015 
4 In the Matter of the Complaint Regarding Coalition for Sensible Siting, and others.  
http://www.cfboard.state.mn.us/bdinfo/investigation/04_03_2012_CSS_GWT.pdf.  Last visited January 27, 2015. 
5 For the purpose of this analysis, the Board assumes that these activities actually took place.  Because the Board 
concludes that they are not within the scope of activities that constitute communicating with a Minnesota official, it is 
not necessary to determine the exact scope of an ALEC task force director's duties. 
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virtually all of a task force director’s work is done in the abstract, without any specific Minnesota 
connection.   
 
While some part of a task force director's work may eventually support a communication with a 
Minnesota legislator (if a legislator happens to attend a task force meeting or otherwise interacts 
with the task force director), most of the work of a task force director will never be used to 
support any communication with a Minnesota legislator.  The nexus between the task force 
director’s  work and some future hypothetical communication with a Minnesota legislator 
therefore is insufficient to justify its inclusion in the scope of activities that would make a task 
force director a lobbyist.6 
 
For the reasons discussed above, the Board does not adopt such a broad scope of activities to 
be included when determining if an individual meets the threshold of compensation to become a 
lobbyist.  As a result, the Board concludes that Amy Kjose does not meet the compensation 
threshold to be a lobbyist in Minnesota.7 
 
The criteria for determining whether an association is a principal 
An association that pays a lobbyist more than $500 in a calendar year or that spends more than 
$50,000 in a year on specified activities is a principal.  Minn. Stat. § 10A.01, subd. 33.   The 
Board concluded above that ALEC task force directors are not lobbyists.  As a result, ALEC is a 
principal only if it spends more than $50,000 in a year on the statutorily specified activities 
 
The types of activities that are included to determine if the $50,000 threshold is met are 
specified in Minnesota Statutes section 10A.04, subdivision 6, as follows: 
  

all expenditures for advertising, mailing, research, analysis, compilation and 
dissemination of information, and public relations campaigns related to legislative action, 
administrative action, or the official action of metropolitan governmental units in this state 
 

and 
 

all salaries and administrative expenses attributable to activities of the principal relating 
to efforts to influence legislative action, administrative action, or the official action of 
metropolitan governmental units in this state. 
 

In addition to listing the types of activities that can make an association a principal, the statute 
includes another important requirement.  The activities must be "related to legislative action . . . 
in this state" or "to influence legislative action . . . in this state."  Ibid. 
 
To clarify the statute and to ensure that its application does not extend to communications in 
which the state may not have a substantially significant disclosure interest, the Board interprets 
the phrases "related to legislative action" and "to influence legislative action" to mean "for the 
purpose of influencing legislative action."  This narrowing construction ensures that 

6 Because the relationship between bill drafting or similar activities and communication with Minnesota legislators is 
so tentative in the immediate matter, the Board need not determine here exactly how close the nexus must be before 
an individual's actions are a part of the individual's communication with officials. 
7 The Board recognizes that Complainant has provided evidence that three Minnesota legislators attended ALEC 
events in 2010 and that this investigation has disclosed other instances of Minnesota legislators attending ALEC 
events.  However, neither the information provided by Complainant nor the evidence disclosed by this investigation 
suggests that any single task force director had sufficient contact with Minnesota legislators to support a conclusion 
that the task force director was paid more than $3,000 in a calendar year for that Minnesota communication. 
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communication that is merely about legislation or legislative action, but does not try to influence 
official action will not make an association a principal. 
 
Equally important is the limiting clause "in this state," which the Board interprets as modifying 
the legislative action under examination.  In other words, the association's activities need not 
occur "in this state," but those activities must be for the purpose of influencing Minnesota 
legislative action. 
 
Is ALEC a principal? 
ALEC's mission is to work "to advance limited government, free markets, and federalism at the 
state level. . .."  In advancing that mission, ALEC task forces have "considered, written and 
approved hundreds of model bills on a wide range of issues;" bills that ALEC considers to be 
"model legislation that will frame the debate today and far into the future."8   
 
Beyond drafting legislation, "ALEC staff provides research, policy analysis, scholarly articles, 
reference materials, and expert testimony on a wide spectrum of issues."9  ALEC's website and 
its publications make it clear that ALEC's mission is national rather than uniquely targeted to 
any particular state.  As a result, ALEC bears many similarities to any number of associations 
operating as so-called "think tanks" whose overall mission is to change public opinion and to 
support those who want to advance the principles espoused by the association.  Likewise, 
ALEC bears similarities to other associations that create and urge the adoption of model 
legislation.   
 
If a distinction is to be made between ALEC and other national "think tanks" or model-law-
writing organizations, that distinction must be based on the association's purpose with respect 
to influencing Minnesota legislative action, not on the question of who develops the policies 
advanced by the association. 
 
Clearly, ALEC spends more than $50,000 per calendar year to advance its mission.  The types 
of activities that ALEC undertakes to advance this mission include the same activities that can 
make an association a principal.  However, to decide that ALEC is a principal, it is also 
necessary to conclude that ALEC's activities are for the purpose of influencing legislative action 
in this state. 
 
ALEC itself acknowledges that part of its goal is "to ensure that each of its legislative members 
is fully armed with the information, research, and ideas they need to be an ally of the free-
market system."10  Ultimately, the only way for legislators to be such an ally is by passing 
legislation that advances ALEC's principles.  In fact, ALEC's bylaws require it to work to 
influence legislative action.  One of ALEC's stated purposes is "to disseminate model legislation 
and promote the introduction of companion bills in Congress and state legislatures."11   
 
Although the evidence supports a conclusion that ALEC's primary purpose is the passage of 
state legislation in the various states and that all of its wide-ranging activities are in support of 
this primary purpose, such a conclusion is not sufficient to further conclude that ALEC's 
activities are for the purpose of influencing legislative action in this state as the definition of 
principal requires.  

8 The quotes in this paragraph are from the ALEC website at http://www.alec.org/about-alec/history/  and 
http://www.alec.org/about-alec/history/  last visited January 27, 2015. 
9 ALEC Private Sector Membership brochure, Exhibit 2 to the complaint. 
10 ibid. 
11 ALEC Bylaws, Exhibit 3 to the complaint. 
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The Board concludes that an activity directed at all 50 states in the abstract does not constitute 
an activity conducted for the purpose of influencing legislation in this state even though it may in 
some instances have that effect.  Before an association's activity will be included in the activities 
that may make the association a principal, there must be some specific connection to 
Minnesota.  With ALEC, that nexus is insufficient. 
 
The Board reaches this conclusion based on its construction of Chapter 10A and the 
requirement that it give meaning to all of the words of each statute.  In this case, the phrase "in 
this state" will be meaningless if all the activities of every national advocacy association are 
included when deciding if that association is a principal.  Under such an approach, national 
associations whose activities never actually influence specific Minnesota legislative action might 
still be found to be principals in Minnesota.  
 
The Board recognizes that over the years a small number of Minnesota legislators have 
attended ALEC conferences.  As noted, it is possible that the communication by individual 
ALEC employees with Minnesota legislators at such conferences would be included when 
deciding if an ALEC employee is a lobbyist.  However, the fact that ALEC offers conferences 
which Minnesota legislators may attend does not result in the cost of each conference being an 
expenditure "to influence legislation in this state."   
 
Based on the same analysis, the Board concludes that the creation by an association of a public 
website and of content published on that website does not make the association a principal 
when the site has no specific Minnesota nexus.  To conclude otherwise would result in principal 
status being determined based on who visits the site, rather than on a determination of whether 
the site and its content were produced for the purpose of influencing legislative action in 
Minnesota. 
 
For these reasons, the Board concludes that ALEC has not reached the $50,000 threshold 
necessary to be a principal in Minnesota. 
  
Based on the investigation and the record in this matter, the Board makes the following: 

 
Findings of Fact 

 
1. ALEC is an association organized as a nonprofit corporation. 

 
2. ALEC's primary purpose is to promote its "free market" principles throughout the United 

States.  It does this in various ways, including by producing model state legislation that, 
if adopted, would incorporate its principles into state law. 
 

3. ALEC's activities are conducted on a national platform.  Although ALEC attempts to be 
active in every state, its programs and activities have no specific Minnesota connection. 
 

4. Much of ALEC's efforts are directed toward advancing its principles through changing 
public perceptions and through advocacy of legislative action in the various states. 
 

5. ALEC spends more than $50,000 in each calendar year on communications in the form 
of publications, model legislation, conferences, and other activities to advance its 
principles. 
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6. ALEC's efforts have no particular nexus with Minnesota.  Rather, they are directed at all 
of the states generally. 
 

7. In at least some cases, Minnesota legislators have attended ALEC conferences and 
introduced legislation that is based on ALEC model legislation. 
 

8. Amy Kjose had minimal communication with Minnesota legislators in 2009 and 2011 in 
the form of issue alerts she sent by email. 
 

9. It is possible that Amy Kjose may have had additional minimal communications with 
Minnesota legislators at one or more ALEC events.   
 

10. Amy Kjose did not spend any of her own money to influence Minnesota legislative 
action. 
 

11. The total compensation paid to Amy Kjose in any calendar year for communications with 
Minnesota legislators did not exceed $3,000. 

 
Conclusions of Law 

 
1. To become a lobbyist based on spending $250 or more under Minnesota Statutes 

section 10A.01, subdivision 21(a)(2), only the spending of the individual's own money is 
considered. 
 

2. Amy Kjose is not a lobbyist under section 10A.02, subdivision 21(a)(2) because she did 
not spend any of her own money for communications to influence legislative action in 
Minnesota. 
 

3. Amy Kjose is not a lobbyist under section 10A.01, subdivision 21(a)(1) because she was 
not paid more than $3,000 in a calendar year for communications to influence legislative 
action in Minnesota. 
 

4. Because Amy Kjose is not a lobbyist, ALEC is not a principal based on spending more 
than $500 in a calendar year to compensate a lobbyist. 
 

5. Although ALEC spends more than $50,000 per year to advance its principles through 
activities that include promotion of model legislation in the various states, ALEC does not 
specifically target Minnesota in such a way that its general spending constitutes 
spending for activities conducted for the purpose of influencing legislation in this state. 
 

6. ALEC is not a principal based on its spending to advance its principles or to influence 
legislation in the fifty states generally. 
 

Order 
 

The investigation of this matter is concluded and the complaint is dismissed. 
 
 
__/s/  George A. Beck_  ___    _February 3, 2015_ 
George A. Beck, Chair     Date 
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Documents incorporated into these Findings by reference: 
Complaint of Common Cause Minnesota Regarding the American Legislative Exchange 
Council Exhibits to the complaint 
May 22, 2012, letter advising ALEC of the complaint 
March 13, 2013, letter requesting information from ALEC  
Response from ALEC, April 12, 2013 
July 11, 2013, letter requesting information from ALEC 
Response from ALEC, July 26, 2013 
Letter to ALEC February 13, 2014 
Response from ALEC March 10, 2014 
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Referenced statutes 
 

10A.01 Definitions 
.  .  . 
 
Subd. 21. Lobbyist. (a) "Lobbyist" means an individual: 
(1) engaged for pay or other consideration of more than $3,000 from all sources in any year for 
the purpose of attempting to influence legislative or administrative action, or the official action of a 
metropolitan governmental unit, by communicating or urging others to communicate with public 
or local officials; 
.  .  . 
 
Subd. 33. Principal. "Principal" means an individual or association that: 
 
(1) spends more than $500 in the aggregate in any calendar year to engage a lobbyist, 
compensate a lobbyist, or authorize the expenditure of money by a lobbyist; or 
 
(2) is not included in clause (1) and spends a total of at least $50,000 in any calendar year on 
efforts to influence legislative action, administrative action, or the official action of metropolitan 
governmental units, as described in section 10A.04, subdivision 6. 
 
 
10A.04 Lobbyist reports. 
 
Subd. 6. Principal reports. (a) A principal must report to the board as required in this 
subdivision by March 15 for the preceding calendar year. 
 

(b) Except as provided in paragraph (d), the principal must report the total amount, 
rounded to the nearest $20,000, spent by the principal during the preceding calendar 
year to influence legislative action, administrative action, and the official action of 
metropolitan governmental units. 

 
(c) Except as provided in paragraph (d), the principal must report under this subdivision a 
total amount that includes: 
 

(1) all direct payments by the principal to lobbyists in this state; 
 

(2) all expenditures for advertising, mailing, research, analysis, compilation and 
dissemination of information, and public relations campaigns related to legislative 
action, administrative action, or the official action of metropolitan governmental 
units in this state; and 
 
(3) all salaries and administrative expenses attributable to activities of the 
principal relating to efforts to influence legislative action, administrative action, or 
the official action of metropolitan governmental units in this state. 

 
(d) A principal that must report spending to influence administrative action in 
cases of rate setting, power plant and powerline siting, and granting of 
certificates of need under section 216B.243 must report those amounts as 
provided in this subdivision, except that they must be reported separately and not 
included in the totals required under paragraphs (b) and (c). 
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